
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Notice of meeting of  

Joint Standards Committee Hearings Sub-Committee 
 
To: Councillors Cannon, Perrett and Hayes 

 
Date: Tuesday, 11 October 2016 

 
Time: 10.00 am 

 
Venue: The Thornton Room - Ground Floor, West Offices (G039) 

 
 

A G E N D A 
 
 
1. Declarations of Interest    
 Members are asked to declare: 

 Any personal interests not included on the Register of 
Interests 

 Any prejudicial interests 

 Any disclosable pecuniary interests 
which they may have in respect of business on this agenda. 
 

2. Exclusion of Press and Public    
 (i) To consider excluding the public and press from the 

meeting during consideration of annexes 2, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 
10 and 11of agenda item 3 on the grounds that they 
contain information relating to individuals and which are 
likely to reveal the identity of individuals. This information is 
classed as exempt under Paragraphs 1 & 2 of Schedule 
12A to Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, as 
amended by the Local Government (Access to information) 
(Variation) Order 2006. 

 
(ii) To take a decision as to whether the hearing of this case 

(or any part of it) should be dealt with in public or in private. 
 
 

 



 

3. Complaint against Members of Strensall 
with Towthorpe Parish Council   

(Pages 1 - 104) 

 To consider a complaint made against Members of Strensall with 
Towthorpe Parish Council, which has been referred to the 
Hearings Sub-Committee for determination following an 
investigation.   
 
Details of the procedure to be followed at the hearing can be 
found at pages 15 to 19 of the agenda papers. 
 

4. Urgent Business    
 Any other business which the Chair considers urgent under the 

Local Government Act 1972. 
 

Democratic Services Officer responsible for this meeting: 
 
Name: Jayne Carr 
Contact details: 

 Telephone – (01904) 552030 

 E-mail – jayne.carr@york.gov.uk 
 
 

For more information about any of the following please contact the 
Democracy Officer responsible for servicing this meeting   

 Business of the meeting 

 Any special arrangements 
 

 
 



 

 

  
 

   

 
Standards Hearing Sub Committee 
 11 October 2016 

 
Complaint against Members of Strensall with Towthorpe Parish 
Council 
 
 

Complainants Graham and Mandy Harrison 

  

Subject Members  Councillor Keith Marquis 

 Councillor Chris Chambers 

 Councillor Ralph Plant 

 Councillor Tracey Flannery 

 Councillor John Chapman 

 Councillor Geoffrey Harvey-Walker 

 Councillor Dennis Baxter  

 Councillor Duncan Hill  

 Councillor Kevin Ogilvy  

 Councillor Judy Smith  

 Councillor Tony Fisher 

 Councillor Lawrence Mattinson 

 former Councillor Edwards 

  

Clerk to Parish Council Susan Nunn 

  

Investigator Rachel McKevitt, Solicitor, City of 
York Council 

 
1. Background 
 
1.1 This complaint is brought by Graham and Mandy Harrison 

against twelve current and one former member of Strensall 
with Towthorpe Parish Council. The complaint appears at 
pages 21 to 41 of the annexed papers. The complaint relates 
to the behaviour of Parish Councillors when dealing with Mr. 
and Mrs. Harrison’s application for permission to have 
services cross land which the Parish Council leases from the 
City Council. 
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1.2 The merits of Mr. and Mrs. Harrison’s request and the Parish 

Council’s decision are not something which the Sub 
Committee can consider. The only issues which the Sub 
Committee are concerned with are whether one or more 
Parish Councillors may have breached the code of conduct 
and if so whether a sanction should be imposed. 
 

1.3 As required by the Localism Act 2011 the Parish Council has 
adopted a code of conduct which sets out the conduct 
expected of Parish Councillors when acting as such. The 
code of conduct appears at pages 43 to 50. Particularly 
relevant to this complaint is the following section: 
 

When a member of the Council acts, claims to act or gives the 

impression of acting as a representative of the Council, he/she 

has the following obligations. 

 

1. He/she shall behave in such a way that a reasonable 

person would regard as respectful. 

2. He/she shall not act in a way which a reasonable person 

would regard as bullying or intimidatory.  

3. He/she shall not seek to improperly confer an advantage 

or disadvantage on any person. 

4. He/she shall use the resources of the Council in 

accordance with its requirements.  

5. He/she shall not disclose information which is confidential 
or where disclosure is prohibited by law 

 
1.4 Following consultation with the independent persons (at that 

time Mr. Laverick and Mr. Hall) the complaint was referred for 
investigation and Rachel McKevitt, a solicitor employed by 
the City of York Council, was appointed to investigate. 
 

1.5 Ms. McKevitt has prepared a report in respect of her 
investigation which appears at pages 51 to 69.   As the 
complaints procedure requires she has reached a conclusion 
as to whether there has been a breach of the code. She 
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believes that some but not all aspects of the complaint 
should be upheld. 
 

1.6 Upon receipt of the report the Monitoring Officer shared it 
with the parties and consulted the independent persons (Mr. 
Laverick and Ms. Davies). Having done so the Monitoring 
Officer took the view that this case was not suitable for local 
settlement and referred it for a hearing. 
 

2. The Hearing Process 
 

2.1 The Standards Committee has approved a procedure for 
hearings which appears at pages to 7 to 19. In line with that 
procedure the complainants and subject members have 
been asked to complete a pre hearing check list indicating 
whether they intend to attend the hearing and identifying 
facts which they say are in dispute and indicating whether 
any part of the hearing should be in public. 

 
2.2 The response from Mr. and Mrs. Harrison is at pages 71 to 

73.  They intend to attend the hearing and do not dispute any 
facts. They say that the hearing should not be in private. 

 
2.3 Councillor Marquis, the Chair of the Parish Council, has 

indicated that he will attend and be represented by the 
Parish Clerk, Susan Nunn.  His response is at pages 75 to 
77.  He says the report is biased and takes little account of 
the circumstances of this long running saga which, he says, 
were explained to the Investigating Officer. He wished the 
hearing to be in private because he says that the Harrisons 
are pursuing related legal proceedings. 

 
2.4 Councillor Chambers has also indicated that he will attend 

and be represented by the Parish Clerk. He also wishes the 
hearing to be in private for the same reasons as Councillor 
Marquis. He makes specific comments as to factual accuracy 
at pages 81 to 86. 

 
2.5 Councillor Plant’s response is at pages 87 to 91. He 

describes Councillor Marquis’ response as “jointly agreed” 
but adds three specific points in relation to the specific 
complaints against him. These appear at pages 87 and 91. 
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2.6 Councillor Fisher does not intend to attend the hearing. He 
has submitted two e-mails setting out his position. They 
appear at pages 93 and 94. 

 
2.7 Councillor Mattinson does not intend to attend the hearing. 

He has submitted an e-mail criticising the investigation. This 
appears at pages 95 and 96.  He has not submitted any new 
factual information or identified any specific factual 
inaccuracies. 

 
2.8 The remaining councillors and former councillor have not 

responded individually but the entire Parish Council has 
signed a collective response which appears at pages 97 to 
103. 

 
 
3. Issues to be determined 

 
3.1 Should all or part of the hearing be in private? Members 

have received representations on this from Councillors 
Marquis and Chambers and may wish to invite oral 
representations. 
 

3.2 Have one or more councillors breached the Parish 
Council’s code of conduct in respect of the following 
allegations: 
 

a) Use of the words “profit through deception” in a letter from 
the Chairman of the Parish Council, Councillor Marquis, to 
Hague and Dixon Solicitors. 
 

b) Councillor Ralph Plant not declaring an interest in Mr and 
Mrs Harrison’s matter at a Parish Council monthly meeting 
on 11th August 2015.   

 
c) Bias evidenced by comments made at the Parish Council 

meeting on 13th October 2015 in relation to a similar request 
for services made by Transcore in respect of land known as 
Sevenoaks  
 

d) Bias shown in a letter of 9th September 2015 from the Parish 
Council to Mr and Mrs Harrison. 
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3.3 In the event that the Sub Committee finds that the Code has 
been breached it will need to determine whether a sanction 
should be imposed and if so what sanction.  

 
Andrew Docherty 
Monitoring Officer 
 
 
Background papers: None 
 
Annexed Documents 
 

 Document Pages 

1. Hearing Procedure 7 to 19 

2. Complaint Form submitted by Mr 
and Mrs Harrison 

21 to 41 

3. Code of Conduct of Strensall with 
Towthorpe Council 

43 to 50 

4. Report of investigation conducted 
by Rachel McKevitt 

51 to 69 

5. Pre hearing form submitted by Mr 
and Mrs Harrison 

71 to 73 

6. Pre hearing form submitted by Cllr. 
Marquis 

75 to 77 

7a. Pre hearing form submitted by Cllr. 
Chambers 

79 to 83 

7b. Submission from Cllr. Chambers 
dated 26 September 2016 

85 to 86 

8a. E-mail from Cllr. Plant dated 26 
July 2016  

87  

8b. Email from Cllr. Plant dated 23 
September 2016 

89 to 91 

9. E-mail from Cllr. Fisher 93 to 94 

10. E-mail from Cllr. Mattinson 95 to 96 

11. Collective response from Parish 
Council 

97 to 103 
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Annex 1a 

Pre Hearing Procedure 
 

1. Where a decision has been made that a complaint needs to be 
referred for a hearing then a Sub Committee meeting will be 
arranged for that purpose. The Sub Committee will sit as a Hearing 
Panel. 

 
2.  A copy of the final investigation report will be sent to the Subject 

Member, the complainant and to the Independent Persons. If the 
complaint relates to the Subject Member’s conduct as a parish 
councillor then a copy will also be sent to the Clerk to the Parish 
Council. 

 
3. The Subject Member and the complainant will be asked to confirm 

within fifteen working days whether he/she: 
 

 Disagrees with any of the findings of fact in the report and the 
reasons for any disagreement 
 

 Wishes to be represented by a solicitor or barrister, or by any 
other person (such representation should not normally be 
necessary) 
 

 Wishes to attend the hearing 
 

 Wishes relevant witnesses to be called to give evidence to the 
Panel 
 

 Wishes any part of the hearing to be held in privatei 
 

 Wishes any part of the Investigating Officer’s report or other 
relevant documents to be withheld from the publicii 

 
4. The Subject Member and the complainant will be informed that if, 

at the meeting of the Committee, he/she seeks to dispute any 
matter contained in the Investigating Officer’s report without having 
previously notified the intention to do so, the Committee may 
refuse to allow the disputed matters to be raised unless satisfied 
that there are good reasons why they have not been raised 
beforehand. 
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5. Upon receipt of the Member’s and complainant’s responses, the 
Investigating Officer shall be invited to comment on it within ten 
working days, and to say whether or not he/she: 
 

    Considers that the Committee should request other witnesses to 
give evidence or submit written or other evidence to the 
Committee 
 

 Believes any part of the hearing should be held in private 
 

 Believes any part of the report or other relevant documents 
should be withheld from the public 
 

6. The Monitoring Officer will consider the responses and set a date 
for the hearing in consultation with the Chair of the Panel. 
 

7. The Monitoring Officer together with the Chair of the Hearing Panel 
will consider which witnesses should be invited to attend. 
Witnesses may not be called if the number requested is 
unreasonable and it appears that some witnesses will simply be 
repeating the evidence of earlier witnesses, or else not providing 
evidence that will assist the Panel to reach its decision. 
 

8. The Chair of the Hearing Panel may request the attendance of any 
additional witnesses whose evidence he/she considers would 
assist the Panel to reach its decision. The Panel does not though 
have powers to compel any witness to attend. 
 

9. The Monitoring Officer will: 
 

 Confirm a date, time and place for the hearing 
 

 Confirm the main facts of the case that are agreed 
 

 Confirm the main facts that are not agreed 
 

 Provide the Panel with a copy of the investigating officer’s 
report 

 

 Provide copies of any other written evidence to the relevant 
parties and the Panel 
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 Confirm which witnesses will be called by the parties 
 

 Provide the parties with copies of the proposed procedure for 

the hearing. 

                                                           
i
 The Standards Committee’s general position is that hearings should be held in public and that documents 
should be publicly available in advance of the meeting. However, there may be circumstances in which fairness 
to individuals dictates and the provisions of schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 allow, 
information to be considered in private. The Proper Officer of the Council will decide whether papers should 
be publicly available in advance and the Sub Committee will determine whether all or part of the meeting 
should he in private.  
ii
 See note i 
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Annex 1b 

City of York Council Standards 
Committee 

 
Pre Hearing checklist 

 

Complainant  

Subject Member Councillor 

Investigating Officer  

 

Do you intend to attend the proposed hearing to give evidence or 
make representations  
 

Yes/No 
 

Do you wish to be represented at the hearing by a solicitor, 
barrister or another person.1 
 

Yes/No 
 

If so by who? 
 

Name of representative and capacity in which they act: e.g. solicitor, 
friend, fellow Councillor 
 
 
 

Do you wish the whole or any part of the hearing to be in private? 
 

Yes/No 
 

If yes please explain why2 

 
 
 
 

                                                           
1
 Although there has to be a degree of formality to the proceedings of the committee it will be unusual for 

subject members to be represented. The procedure is not adversarial. The Committee will act in an 
inquisitorial manner to ensure that the circumstances of the case are fully understood. 
2
 The Standards Committee’s general position is that hearings should be held in public and that documents 

should be publicly available in advance of the meeting. However, there may be circumstances in which fairness 
to individuals dictates and the provisions of schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 allow, 
information to be considered in private. The Council’s proper officer will determine whether papers should be 
publicly available and the Hearing Sub Committee will determine whether the meeting or nay part of it should 
be in private.   
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Do you wish any part of the Investigating Officer’s report or other 
relevant documents to be withheld from the public? 

Yes/No 
 

If yes please explain why3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Do you disagree with any of the facts found by the investigating 
officer as set out in his her report? 

Yes/No 

If yes please set out briefly the facts that you dispute and your view 
as to the true factual position 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                           
3
 The Standards Committee’s general position is that hearings should be held in public and that documents 

should be publicly available in advance of the meeting. However, there may be circumstances in which fairness 
to individuals dictates and the provisions of schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 allow, 
information to be considered in private. The Council’s proper officer will determine whether papers should be 
publicly available and the Hearing Sub Committee will determine whether the meeting or any part of it should 
be in private.   
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Do you believe that witnesses should be called to the Hearing 

Yes/No 
 

If yes please identify the witnesses who you wish to be called and 
briefly identify the issues that they will be able to give evidence 
about4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                           
4
 The Monitoring Officer and Chair will consider whether any witnesses you name are likely to be able to give 

evidence which will be of value to the Hearing Panel. If they are then those witnesses will be invited to attend. 
The Panel cannot compel the attendance of any witness. 
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Annex 1c 

City of York Council Standards Committee – Hearing Procedure  
 
General Matters 
 
1.  In this procedure the term “interested parties” is used to cover the 

complainant, the subject member and the investigating officer. The 
interested parties will all be invited to attend the hearing as 
potential witnesses. 

 
2.  The Independent Persons will also be invited to attend the hearing 

in an advisory, non-voting capacity. Their views will be sought as 
to whether the evidence establishes a breach of the code of 
conduct and, if so, as to what if any penalty should be imposed.  

 
3. The Hearing Panel will be made up of members of the Standards 

Committee and there will normally be three members. The Panel 
will be supported by the Monitoring Officer or his representative 
and a democratic services officer. 

 
4. The meeting will be open to the press and public unless 

confidential or exempt information is likely to be disclosed. The 
Standards Committee considers that in general the public interest 
in seeing that complaints relating to Councillors are handled 
properly will outweigh any considerations relating to the privacy of 
the Councillor concerned but each case will be considered on its 
own merits including consideration of the privacy of other parties. 

 
5.  The hearing will normally follow the procedure set out below but 

the Chair has the discretion to vary it at any time. Such a variation 
may be considered where, for example, the Chair believes that 
doing so will be in the interests of fairness or help in establishing 
the facts of the case. 

 
6.  It will not usually be necessary for the Subject Member to be 

represented at a hearing but he or she may choose to arrange 
such representation which may be by a solicitor, barrister or 
another person. 

 
7. The Panel may take legal advice at any time during the hearing or 

during its deliberations. The substance of any advice given to the 
Panel will normally be shared with the parties. 
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 Preliminary procedures 
 
8.  Prior to the hearing commencing the Panel may meet privately to 

review the material presented and to agree the main lines of 
enquiry.  

 
9. At the start of the hearing, the Chair will arrange introductions of 

the Panel, its Officers, the Independent Persons and the interested 
parties. The Chair will briefly explain the procedure which the 
Panel will follow in the conduct of the hearing. The Chair will 
confirm that each interested party has seen the final report of the 
investigating officer and has had the opportunity to engage in the 
pre hearing procedures. 

 
10. The Monitoring Officer will identify whether the pre hearing 

procedures have identified any significant disagreements about the 
facts contained in the Investigating Officer’s report. The Panel will 
record the agreed facts and establish the facts in dispute which 
they will be required to rule upon.  

 
11.  If a party raises an issue which has not been raised previously 

then that party shall be required to give a full explanation to the 
Panel as to why is was not raised earlier.  The Panel may then: 

          
a. Consider whether or not to allow the issue that has been 

raised to be dealt with at the hearing 
 
b.  Consider whether the hearing should be adjourned for further 

investigations to take place. 
 

Determining factual disputes 
 
12. If there are disputed facts which the Panel consider relevant to 

establishing whether the Code has been breached or as to the 
seriousness of the breach then, the Panel will adopt an inquisitorial 
approach in establishing the facts. The Chair will invite members of 
the Panel to ask questions of the interested parties or any other 
potential witness present.  The Monitoring Officer may also ask 
questions. 

 
13. Once a witness has answered questions from the Panel then the 

Chair will ask the interested parties whether there are other issues 
which ought properly to be raised with the witness. The Chair (or 
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another Member) may put any such issues to the witness him or 
herself or may allow the relevant party to ask questions directly.  

 
14.  The Panel must reach a decision as to the facts it finds to be 

proven. The Panel must also make a decision as to whether the 
proven facts (including those which are agreed) show a breach of 
the code of conduct. Depending on the complexity of the case the 
Panel may consider each of those issues separately or deal with 
them together. In either case the Chair will invite the parties to 
make representations on each matter before the Panel reaches its 
decision. 

 
Panel deliberations 
 
15.  When the Panel is considering its finding of facts and whether 

those facts amount to a breach of the Code of conduct it will do so 
in private but in the presence of the Monitoring Officer, the 
Independent persons and the Democratic Services officer. 

 
16.  At the conclusion of the Panel’s deliberations, the Chair will 

publicly announce the Panel’s findings as to the facts and as to 
whether those facts show a breach of the code of conduct.  The 
Panel will give reasons for their findings. It will be normal practice 
to share the substance of any advice given by the Monitoring 
Officer and Independent persons at this stage. 

 
Determining Sanctions 
 
17. If the Panel concludes that the Subject Member has failed to 

comply with the Code of Conduct, the Chair will invite 
representations from the interested parties as to what action, if 
any, it should take. 

 
18.  The Panel will then consider whether to impose a sanction, and, if 

so, what sanction to impose and when that sanction should take 
effect. It will do so in private but in the presence of the Monitoring 
Officer, the Independent persons and the Democratic Services 
officer. 

 
19. The sanctions available to the Hearings Panel are to –  

 

 Censure the Councillor;  
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 Formally report its findings to the City Council or Parish 
Council for information;  

 

 Recommend to the Councillor’s Group Leader (or in the case 
of un-grouped Councillors, recommend to Council or to 
Committees) that he/she be removed from any or all Panels 
or Sub-Committees of the Council;  

 

 Recommend to the Leader of the Council that the Councillor 
be removed from the Cabinet, or removed from particular 
Portfolio responsibilities;  

 

 Recommend to Council that the Leader be removed from 
Office (if it is the Leader’ conduct that is being considered) 

 

 Instruct the Monitoring Officer to [or recommend that the 
Parish Council] arrange training for the Councillor;  

 

 Remove [or recommend to the Parish Council that the 
Councillor be removed] from all outside appointments to 
which he/she has been appointed or nominated by the 
authority [or by the Parish Council];  

 

 Withdraw [or recommend to the Parish Council that it 
withdraws] facilities provided to the Councillor by the 
Council, such as a computer, website and/or email and 
Internet access. 

 
20. The Hearings Panel has no power to suspend or disqualify the 

Councillor or to withdraw Councillors’ basic or special responsibility 
allowances. If the Panel decides to withdraw facilities from the 
Councillor it must ensure that the Councillor is not thereby 
prevented from undertaking his/her representative duties. 

 
21.  The Chair will publicly announce the decision of the Panel. The 

substance of any further advice given by the Independent Person 
and Monitoring Officer will also be shared. Written notice of the 
findings of the Panel will be given as soon as is reasonably 
practicable to the Subject Member. They will also be placed on the 
council’s website. If the complaint was against the Subject Member 
as a parish councillor, written notice of the findings of the Panel will 
be sent to the clerk to the parish council.   
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Other action 
 
22.  The Panel may also consider making any recommendations to the 

Council concerned with a view to promoting higher standards of 
conduct among its members. 
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Page 1 of 8 
 

Strensall with Towthorpe Parish Council – adopted 12
th

 June 2012 updated 9th July 2015 

STRENSALL WITH TOWTHORPE PARISH COUNCIL 

CODE OF CONDUCT FOR COUNCILLORS  

 

Introduction 

Pursuant to section 27 of the Localism Act 2011, Strensall with Towthorpe Parish Council 

(‘the Council’) has adopted this Code of Conduct to promote and maintain high standards 

of behaviour by its members and co-opted members whenever they conduct the business 

of the Council including the business of the office to which they were elected or appointed 

or when they claim to act or give the impression of acting as a representative of the 

Council.  

This Code of Conduct is based on the principles of selflessness, integrity, objectivity, 

accountability, openness, honesty, and leadership. 

 

Definitions 

For the purposes of this Code, a ‘co-opted member’ is a person who is not a member of 

the Council but who is either a member of any committee or sub-committee of the 

Council, or a member of, and represents the Council on any joint committee or joint sub-

committee of the Council, and who is entitled to vote on any question that falls to be 

decided at any meeting of that committee or sub-committee.  

 

For the purposes of this Code, a ‘meeting’ is a meeting of the Council, any of its 

committees, sub-committees, joint committees or joint sub-committees.  

 

For the purposes of this Code, and unless otherwise expressed, a reference to a member 

of the Council includes a co-opted member of the Council. 

 

Member obligations 

You must declare a Personal interest if:- 

1.  You have a personal interest in any business of your authority where either— 

(a) it relates to or is likely to affect— 

(i) any body of which you are a member or in a position of general control or management 

and to which you are appointed or nominated by your authority; 
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Strensall with Towthorpe Parish Council – adopted 12
th

 June 2012 updated 9th July 2015 

(ii) any body— 

 (a)   exercising functions of a public nature; 

(b)   directed to charitable purposes; or 

(c ) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy 

(including any political party or trade union),of which you are a member or in a  position 

of general control or management; 

(iii) any employment or business carried on by you; 

(iv) any person or body who employs or has appointed you; 

(v) any person or body, other than a relevant authority, who has made a payment to you in 

respect of your election or any expenses incurred by you in carrying out your duties; 

(vi) any person or body who has a place of business or land in your authority’s area, and in 

whom you have a beneficial interest in a class of securities of that person or body that 

exceeds the nominal value of £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share capital 

(whichever is the lower); 

(vii) any contract for goods, services or works made between your authority and you or a firm 

in which you are a partner, a company of which you are a remunerated director, or a 

person or body of the description specified in paragraph (vi); 

(viii) the interests of any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an 

estimated value of at least £25; 

(ix) any land in your authority’s area in which you have a beneficial interest; 

(x) any land where the landlord is your authority and you are, or a firm in which you are a 

partner, a company of which you are a remunerated director, or a person or body of the 

description specified in paragraph (vi) is, the tenant; 

(xi) any land in the authority’s area for which you have a licence (alone or jointly with others) 

to occupy for 28 days or longer; or 

(d) a decision in relation to that business might reasonably be regarded as affecting your well-

 being or financial position or the well-being or financial position of a relevant person to a 

 greater extent than the majority of— 

(xii) (in the case of authorities with electoral divisions or wards) other council tax payers, 

ratepayers or inhabitants of the electoral division or ward, as the case may be, affected by 

the decision; or 

(xiii) (in all other cases) other council tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of your authority’s 

area. 

(2) In sub-paragraph (1)(b), a relevant person is— 

(e)  a member of your family or any person with whom you have a close association; or 
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th

 June 2012 updated 9th July 2015 

(f) any person or body who employs or has appointed such persons, any firm in which they are a 

 partner, or any company of which they are directors; 

(g) any person or body in whom such persons have a beneficial interest in a class of securities 

 exceeding the nominal value of £25,000; or any body of a type described in sub-paragraph 

 (1)(a)(i) or (ii). 

Disclosure of personal interests 

2. Where you have a personal interest in any business of your authority and you attend a meeting 

of your authority at which the business is considered, you must disclose to that meeting the 

existence and nature of that interest at the commencement of that consideration, or when the 

interest becomes apparent. 

3. Where you have a personal interest in any business of your authority which relates to or is 

likely to affect a person described in paragraph 8(1)(a)(i) or 8(1)(a)(ii), you need only disclose 

to the meeting the existence and nature of that interest when you address the meeting on that 

business. 

4 Where you have a personal interest in any business of the authority of the type mentioned in 

paragraph 8(1)(a)(viii), you need not disclose the nature or existence of that interest to the 

meeting if the interest was registered more than three years before the date of the meeting. 

 Sub-paragraph (1) only applies where you are aware or ought reasonably to be aware of the 

 existence of the personal interest. 

  Where you have a personal interest but, by virtue of paragraph 14, sensitive  information 

relating to it is not registered in your authority’s register of members’  interests, you must 

indicate to the meeting that you have a personal interest, but need not disclose the sensitive 

information to the meeting. 

Prejudicial interest generally 

 Subject to the above,  where you have a personal interest in any business of your authority you also 

have a prejudicial interest in that business where the interest is one which a member of the public 

with knowledge of the relevant facts would reasonably regard as so significant that it is likely to 

prejudice your judgement of the public interest. 

You do not have a prejudicial interest in any business of the authority where that business— 

(a) does not affect your financial position or the financial position of a person or body described in 

paragraph 8; 

(b) does not relate to the determining of any approval, consent, licence, permission or registration 

in relation to you or any person or body described in paragraph 8; or 

(c) relates to the functions of your authority in respect of— 
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(i) this sub-paragraph does not apply to your authority; 

(ii) this sub-paragraph does not apply to your authority; 

(iii) statutory sick pay under Part XI of the Social Security Contributions and Benefits Act 

1992, where you are in receipt of, or are entitled to the receipt of, such pay; 

(iv) an allowance, payment or indemnity given to members;  

(v) any ceremonial honour given to members; and 

(vi) setting council tax or a precept under the Local Government Finance Act 1992. 

 

When a member of the Council acts, claims to act or gives the impression of acting as a 

representative of the Council, he/she has the following obligations. 

 

1. He/she shall behave in such a way that a reasonable person would regard as 

respectful. 

2. He/she shall not act in a way which a reasonable person would regard as bullying or 

intimidatory.  

3. He/she shall not seek to improperly confer an advantage or disadvantage on any 

person. 

4. He/she shall use the resources of the Council in accordance with its requirements.  

5. He/she shall not disclose information which is confidential or where disclosure is 

prohibited by law. 

 

Registration of interests 

Within 28 days of this Code being adopted by the Council, or the member’s election or the co-opted 

member’s appointment (where that is later), he/she shall register all interests which fall within the 

categories set out in the Appendix.  

6. Upon the re-election of a member or the re-appointment of a co-opted member, 

he/she shall within 28 days re-register any interests in Appendix.  

7. A member shall register any change to interests or new interests in  the Appendix 

within 28 days of becoming aware of it. 

8. A member need only declare on the public register of interests the existence but not 

the details of any interest which the Monitoring Officer agrees is a ‘sensitive interest’.  

A sensitive interest is one which, if disclosed on a public register, could lead the 

member or a person connected with the member to be subject to violence or 

intimidation. 
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Declaration of interests at meetings 

9. Where a matter arises at a meeting which relates to an interest in Appendix A the 

member shall not participate in a discussion or vote on the matter. He/she only has 

to declare what his/her interest is if it is not already entered in the member’s register 

of interests or if he/she has not notified the Monitoring Officer of it. 

10. Where a matter arises at a meeting which relates to an interest listed in standing 

orders or in the Appendix,  the member shall withdraw from the meeting. He/she 

may speak on the matter before withdrawing only if members of the public are also 

allowed to speak at the meeting.  

11. A member only has to declare his/her interest if it is not already entered in his/her 

 register of interests or he/she has not notified the Monitoring Officer of it or if 

 he/she speaks on the matter before withdrawing. If he/she holds an interest in the 

 Appendix which is a sensitive interest not already disclosed to the Monitoring 

 Officer, he/she shall declare the interest but not the nature of the interest. 

12. Where a matter arises at a meeting which relates to a financial interest of a friend, 

relative or close associate, the member shall disclose the nature of the interest and 

withdraw from the meeting. He/she may speak on the matter before withdrawing 

only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting.  If it is a 

‘sensitive interest’ the member shall declare the interest but not the nature of the 

interest. 

 

Dispensations 

On a written request made to the Council’s proper officer, the Council may grant a 

member a dispensation to participate in a discussion and vote on a matter at a 

meeting even if he/she has an interest as described in Standing Orders if the 

Council believes that the number of members otherwise prohibited from taking part 

in the meeting would impede the transaction of the business; or it is in the interests 

of the inhabitants in the Council’s area to allow the member to take part or it is 

otherwise appropriate to grant a dispensation. 

 

 

APPENDIX I 
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Unless they are interests prescribed by regulation for inclusion any interest which relates 

to or is likely to affect: 

(i) any body of which the member is in a position of general control or 

management and to which he/she is appointed or nominated by the Council; 

(ii) any body— 

(a) exercising functions of a public nature; 

(b) directed to charitable purposes; or 

(c) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or 

policy (including any political party or trade union) of which the member of the 

Council is a member or in a position of general control or management; 

(iii) any employment or business carried on by the member; 

(iv) any person or body who employs or has appointed the member; 

(v) any person or body, other than the Council, who has made a payment to the 

member in respect of his/her election or any expenses incurred by him/her in 

carrying out his/her duties; 

(vi) any person or body who has a place of business or land in the Council’s area, 

and in whom the member has a beneficial interest in a class of securities of 

that person or body that exceeds the nominal value of £25,000 or one 

hundredth of the total issued share capital (whichever is the lower); 

(vii) any contract for goods, services or works made between the member’s Council 

and the member or a firm in which he/she is a partner, a company of which he 

/she is a remunerated director, or a person or body of the description specified 

in paragraph (vi); 

(viii) any gifts or hospitality worth more than an estimated value of £50 which the 

member has received by virtue of his or her office. 

(ix) any land in the Council’s area in which the member has a beneficial interest; 

(x) any land where the landlord is the Council and the member is, or a firm in 

which the member is a partner, a company of which the member is a 

remunerated director, or a person or body of the description specified in 

paragraph (vi), is the tenant; 

(xi) any land in the Council’s area for which the member has a licence (alone or 

jointly with others) to occupy for 28 days or longer. 

 

 

Appendix II 
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Registering and declaring pecuniary and non-pecuniary interests 

You must, within 28 days of taking office as a member or co-opted member, notify your 

authority’s monitoring officer of any disclosable pecuniary interest as defined by 

regulations made by the Secretary of State, where the pecuniary interest is yours, your 

spouse’s or civil partner’s, or is the pecuniary interest of somebody with whom you are 

living with as a husband or wife, or as if you were civil partners. 

 

In addition, you must, within 28 days of taking office as a member or co-opted member, 

notify your authority’s monitoring officer of any disclosable pecuniary or non-pecuniary 

interest which your authority has decided should be included in the register. 

 

If an interest has not been entered onto the authority’s register, then the member must 

disclose the interest to any meeting of the authority at which they are present, where they 

have a disclosable interest in any matter being considered and where the matter is not a 

‘sensitive interest’.1 

 

Following any disclosure of an interest not on the authority’s register or the subject of 

pending notification, you must notify the monitoring officer of the interest within 28 days 

beginning with the date of disclosure.  You must, within 28 days of taking office as a 

member or co-opted member, notify your authority’s monitoring officer of any disclosable 

pecuniary interest as defined by regulations made by the Secretary of State, where the 

pecuniary interest is yours, your spouse’s or civil partner’s, or is the pecuniary interest of 

somebody with whom you are living with as a husband or wife, or as if you were civil 

partners. 

 

In addition, you must, within 28 days of taking office as a member or co-opted member, 

notify your authority’s monitoring officer of any disclosable pecuniary or non-pecuniary 

interest which your authority has decided should be included in the register. 

 

If an interest has not been entered onto the authority’s register, then the member must 

disclose the interest to any meeting of the authority at which they are present, where they 
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have a disclosable interest in any matter being considered and where the matter is not a 

‘sensitive interest’.2 

 

Following any disclosure of an interest not on the authority’s register or the subject of 

pending notification, you must notify the monitoring officer of the interest within 28 days 

beginning with the date of disclosure. 

 

Unless dispensation has been granted, you may not participate in any discussion of, vote 

on, or discharge any function related to any matter in which you have a pecuniary interest 

as defined by regulations made by the Secretary of State.  Additionally, your must 

observe the restrictions your authority places on your involvement in matters where you 

have a pecuniary or non pecuniary interest as defined by your authority. 

                                                 
 

Page 50



Annex 4 

Complaint 

Report to the Monitoring Officer, City of York Council, into 
complaints against Members of the Strensall with Towthorpe Parish 
Council (STPC). 
 
From Rachel McKevitt, appointed as Investigating Officer for this 
complaint by Andy Docherty, Monitoring Officer, City of York 
Council. 
 
The Complaint referred for Investigation and Background 
 
The background to this matter goes back several years, Mr and Mrs 
Harrison report that in 2007 they obtained permission from City of York 
Council for a vehicular crossing over a strip of land which is owned by 
City of York Council and is leased to Strensall with Towthorpe Parish 
Council (STPC).  The strip of land provides a second access way to Mr 
and Mrs Harrison’s property and allows for easier access for vehicles 
getting to and from their property.  In August 2013 a Deed of Grant was 
given which gave a right of way over the strip of land for both pedestrian 
and vehicular access.  Mr and Mrs Harrison have subsequently taken 
steps to develop some of their land and approached STPC for a Deed of 
Easement for services over the leased land.  This request has been 
refused.  as follows:   
 
Mr and Mrs Harrison’s complaint, which can be seen in full at Annex A 
which is attached to this report, can be broken down into 6 key areas: 
 

1. Use of the words “profit through deception” in a letter from the 
Chairman of STPC, Councillor Marquis, to Hague and Dixon 
Solicitors defamed Mr and Mrs Harrison, has not resulted in an 
apology from STPC and amounted to a breach of the Code of 
Conduct. 
 

2. Councillor Ralph Plant failed to declare an interest in Mr and Mrs 
Harrison’s matter at a STPC monthly meeting on 11th August 2015.   
 

3. STPC have failed to implement their Complaints Procedure. 
 

4. Comments made at STPC’s monthly meeting on 13th October 2015 
in relation to a similar request for services made by Transcore in 
respect of land known as Sevenoaks demonstrated bias as there 
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was no lawful reason to refuse Mr and Mrs Harrison’s request for 
services. 
 

5. A letter of 9th September 2015 from STPC to Mr and Mrs Harrison 
exemplified the biased conduct of STPC. 
 

6. There has been a failure to adhere to the Complaints 
Procedure/Code of Practice, as, in the view of Mr and Mrs 
Harrison, STPC have failed to act fairly. 
 

I am only able to investigate allegations of breaches of the Code of 
Conduct.  I am unable to investigate whether the Complaints Procedure 
or Code of Practice have been adhered to, therefore, this report will not 
contain findings in respect of the elements of Mr and Mrs Harrison’s 
complaint numbered 3 and 6 above. 
 
Relevant Provisions of the Code of Conduct 
 
STPC’s Code of Conduct states that it “is based on the principles of 
selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty and 
leadership”.  The Code, which was adopted on 12th June 2012, and 
updated on 9th July 2015, which is attached to this report at Annex B 
states in relation to Councillors that: 
 

 He/she shall behave in such a way that a reasonable person would 
regard as respectful. 

 He/she shall not seek to improperly confer an advantage or 
disadvantage on any person. 
 

STPC’s Code of Conduct also deals with declaration of interests at 
meetings.  It states: 
 

 Where a matter arises at a meeting which relates to an interest in 
Appendix A the member shall not participate in a discussion or 
vote on the matter.  He/she only has to declare what his/her 
interest is if it is not already entered in the member’s register of 
interests or if he/she has not notified the Monitoring Officer of it. 

 Where a matter arises at a meeting which relates to an interest 
listed in standing orders or in the Appendix, the member shall 
withdraw from the meeting.  He/she may speak on the matter 
before withdrawing only if members of the public are also allowed 
to speak at the meeting. 
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 A member only has to declare his/her interest if it is not already 
entered in his/her register of interests or he/she has not notified 
the Monitoring Officer of it or if he/she speaks on the matter before 
withdrawing.  If he/she holds an interest in the Appendix which is a 
sensitive interest not already disclosed to the Monitoring Officer, 
he/she shall declare the interest but not the nature of the interest. 

 
The Investigation 
 
In forming my views I interviewed the following people: 
 

 The Complainants - Mr Graham and Mrs Mandy Harrison 

 The Subjects of the Complaint –  
o Councillor Keith Marquis 
o Councillor Dennis Baxter 
o Councillor Duncan Hill 
o Councillor Tony Fisher 
o Councillor Chris Chambers 
o Councillor John Chapman 
o Councillor Lawrence Mattinson 
o Councillor Kevin Ogilvy 
o Councillor Geoffrey Harvey-Walker 
o Ms Cath Edwards 
o Councillor Judy Smith 
o Councillor Ralph Plant 
o Councillor Tracey Flannery did not respond to my letter 

inviting her for interview, nor did she attend the venue set up 
to hold the interviews, which took place on 15th March 2016.  
I have since tried to contact her by telephone and email and 
have received no reply. 
 

 The Clerk of the Parish Council - Mrs Susan Nunn.  Mrs Nunn 
wrote to the Monitoring Officer on 12th February 2016 
acknowledging receipt of the complaint and asked, on instruction 
by all members who were complained of, to request an initial 
discussion on the matter between myself, the Monitoring Officer, 
the Chairman, Keith Marquis and Susan Nunn as the Proper 
Officer, representing the Parish Council.  This meeting took place 
on 19th February 2016 at West Offices.  The Monitoring Officer was 
not present during this meeting. 
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Documents which were considered 
 

a) The complaint submitted by Mr and Mrs Harrison, along with the 
following supplementary documents, which were enclosed with the 
complaint: 

a. Minutes of STPC monthly meeting of 11th August 2015. 
b. Letter from Chairman of STPC to Hague and Dixon Solicitors 

dated 11th August 2015. 
c. Letter from Chairman of STPC to Mr and Mrs Harrison dated 

9th September 2015. 
d. Email from Mr and Mrs Harrison addressed to Mr Marquis 

dated 10 September 2015. 
e. Email from Mrs Harrison addressed to Mr Gray (City of York 

Council) dated 21 September 2015. 
f. Minutes of STPC monthly meeting of 13th October 2015. 
g. A copy of a transcript of notes taken, at the STPC monthly 

meeting on 13th October 2015, by Mrs Harrison. 
 

b) Lease dated 4th January 1996. 
 

c) STPC Meeting Notes from a meeting with Mr and Mrs Harrison, 
former Councillor Peter Jesse, Councillor Marquis, Councillor 
Chambers and the Parish Clerk dated 14th November 2011.   
 

d) Email from Mrs Harrison to DWF Solicitors dated 15th November 
2011. 
 

e) Email from Mr and Mrs Harrison to Susan Nunn dated 17th August 
2015 and Susan Nunn’s reply dated 21 August 2015. 
 

f) Letter from Mr and Mrs Harrison to Susan Nunn dated 26th August 
2015. 

 
g) Letter from Susan Nunn to Mr and Mrs Harrison dated 28th August 

2015. 
 

h) Email exchanges between Mr and Mrs Harrison and Susan Nunn 
dated 11th September 2015. 
 

i) Minutes of STPC Planning Committee dated 23rd February 2016. 
 

j) Minutes of STPC monthly meetings for 2015 to date. 
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Interviews with Complainants and those who were the subject of 
the Complaint 
 
Councillor Marquis and Susan Nunn 
 
I met with Councillor Marquis and Susan Nunn, the Parish Clerk at their 
request on 19th February 2015.  I went through the complaint, my role in 
the matter and I also asked a series of questions at this meeting to gain 
an understanding as to the history of the matter.  I asked to speak to all 
of the Councillors who were the subject of the complaint, I was told that 
the persons concerned would only speak with me in the presence of the 
Clerk.   
 
Susan Nunn told me that ahead of any monthly meeting she would send 
out to all Councillors the agenda and also any other relevant documents 
needed for each meeting, including different “outcome” draft letters for 
any requests requiring consideration at meetings.  I was told that this 
was to “cut down on time”.  In relation to the meeting of 11th August 
2015, Susan Nunn confirmed that a draft letter agreeing to the request 
and one refusing the request (containing the wording “profit through 
deception”) had been sent out to all of the Parish Councillors before the 
meeting.  I asked about where the words “profit through deception” came 
from, Susan Nunn said it had been said by someone at a previous 
Parish Council meeting, she was unable to recall exactly when it had 
been said, but said that the term “fitted the occasion”.  Susan Nunn told 
me that in 2011 there was a meeting with Mr and Mrs Harrison, she said 
that at that meeting it was denied the reason for the second entrance 
was in order to build a house on the land, however, she said that all 
those present at the meeting suspected that was not the case.  
Councillor Marquis confirmed that in his view, “profit through deception” 
was what Mr and Mrs Harrison were seeking to do.   
 
I was told that the Parish Council and Councillor Plant in particular 
accepted that he should have declared an interest at the meeting of 11th 
August 2015, but had not.  I was told that he had declared an interest at 
previous meetings concerning The Firs, but it had been an oversight on 
this occasion.   
 
I asked Councillor Marquis about the letter signed by him in his capacity 
of Chairman to Mr and Mrs Harrison dated 9th September 2015, in 
particular use of the words “illegally constructed”.  Councillor Marquis 
said that at the time of the meeting in November 2011 which he was 
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referring to within the letter of 9th September 2015, there was no deed of 
grant in place, therefore, in his view, because there was no legal 
authority for the second access, at that time it was what he would deem 
an illegal construction.  
 
I have established that this letter was written after a “closed meeting” on 
8th September 2015, which took place after the monthly meeting on 8th 
September 2015 and that as a result of the “closed meeting” the letter of 
9th September 2015 was drafted and signed by Councillor Marquis on 
behalf of STPC.  Mr Marquis told me that the closed session had been 
arranged to discuss, correspondence from Mr and Mrs Harrison, 
including their letter of 26th August 2015.  Councillor Marquis stated that 
the letter was a 5 page complaint which the Parish Council had received.  
He stated that the letter threatened “all kinds of actions”, which is why 
STPC felt is appropriate to discuss The Firs at a closed session.  He 
confirmed that after this meeting, the Parish Council felt that the matter 
was then closed.   
 
I asked about Sevenoaks, which is a development not far from The Firs 
in Strensall.  The reason I asked about Sevenoaks is because I 
understand that services had already been installed by Transcore over 
land owned by the City Council which is leased to STPC without 
permission from STPC.  Mr and Mrs Harrison have referred to the 
Sevenoaks development as part of their complaint as they believed 
STPC had granted permission for the services to be installed at 
Sevenoaks, therefore, there was no lawful reason to refuse their request 
for services.  I was told that the matter was ongoing, no decision had 
been made and the matter was still “open”.  Susan Nunn confirmed that 
City of York Council as Landlord would also need to be consulted for 
their comments, this is in accordance with their Lease.  I understand that 
since my meeting with Councillor Marquis and Susan Nunn, City of York 
Council have confirmed that the services need to be relocated and the 
land reinstated. 
 
Mr and Mrs Harrison 
 
I met with the complainants, Mr and Mrs Harrison on 8th March 2016.  
They confirmed that their involvement with STPC started in 2007.  They 
provided me with minutes of a meeting which took place on 14th 
November 2011 and also an email they sent to their Solicitor after the 
meeting had taken place.  They told me that they had asked STPC on 8th 
May 2015 for permission for services to be brought across the land 
concerned.  They said that the Clerk wrote back on 13th May 2015 to say 
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that they had missed the cut off for the May meeting, therefore, the 
request would be considered at the meeting on 9th June 2015.  At the 
meeting on 9th June 2015, their request was refused.  I was told that 
STPC confirmed this in writing.  Mr and Mrs Harrison said that they first 
heard of the comment “profit through deception” as a result of seeing the 
letter the Chairman of STPC had sent to Hague and Dixon Solicitors.   
 
Mrs Harrison confirmed that she attended the meeting on 13th October 
2015.  She confirmed that the notes which were attached to the 
complaint were her notes which she had typed up from hand written 
notes made at the meeting.  Mrs Harrison explained to me what some of 
the notes meant and the format she had put the notes into. 
 
Councillor Interviews 
 
I have had difficulties in conducting the Councillor interviews.  I was 
initially told that the Councillors would meet with me, but with the Clerk 
present, which I was happy to do.  I was then told that the Councillors 
would not speak with me.  When I was informed that the Councillors 
would not speak with me, I wrote to all involved on 11th March 2016 
advising that I was available to meet at a time to suit them on 15th March 
2016.  I advised that if I did not hear from the individuals concerned by 
18th March 2016 then I would presume that individuals did not wish to 
discuss the matter with me and I would then conclude my investigation.  
After I had sent the letter, the Clerk contacted me to say that the 
Councillors would speak with me and she arranged appointments for me 
to speak with each person concerned who wanted to speak with me.  
Councillor Tracey Flannery did not attend the meeting, nor has she been 
in contact with me.  I have recently been given her mobile and landline 
telephone number and also her email address.  I have tried to contact 
her through all of these means, but to no avail.   
 
I met each Councillor at what I would describe as “back to back” 
meetings on 15th March 2016.  Each Councillor requested that their 
interview took place in the presence of either the Clerk or Councillor 
Marquis.  My questions centred around the key events within the 
complaint, including the meeting on 11th August 2015, the letter sent on 
11th August 2015, the meeting on 13th October 2015 and the letter of 9th 
September 2015.  I ensured at the outset that each person was aware of 
the complaint, that they had seen a copy, that they could ask questions 
at the end of the interview and I also provided a copy of all of the key 
documents which formed part of the complaint, so that all those 
interviewed had the chance to read through the document being 
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discussed to refresh their memory and assist them.  I explained to each 
person what each document was.  I asked every person I interviewed 
whether they had seen and were aware of the Code of Conduct.  All 
those interviewed confirmed they had seen the Code and were aware of 
it.  I made notes of responses given to each of the questions I asked.  I 
have set out below an overview of each interview, they have been 
written in the order that I carried out each interview.   
 
My difficulty in this particular investigation has been in relation to the 
Councillors’ recollection of meetings, letters and events.  I did receive a 
lot of responses to my questions of “cannot recall”, but have set out 
below a brief overview of the relevant responses to questions asked.   
 
Councillor Chambers 
 
Councillor Chambers confirmed that he was not present at the meeting 
on 11th August 2015 and told me that he did not recall seeing a copy of 
the draft letter of 11th August 2015, although he could have seen it and 
not noted it.  I asked him about the words “profit through deception”, 
Councillor Chambers said that he thought those words had been used at 
a previous meeting, which had taken place possibly a month or so 
before the 11th August 2015 meeting.  When I asked him who had 
drafted the letter, he said he would have thought that it would have been 
the Clerk, perhaps with others. 
 
I asked Councillor Chambers about the letter of 9th September 2015.  
Councillor Chambers said that he probably could have had an input into 
the letter, it could have been circulated and he could have been asked to 
comment, but could not remember exactly, although he did recall that 
he’d seen it before.   
 
Councillor Chambers confirmed that he was the Chair at the meeting of 
13th October 2015.  In relation to the point regarding setting a precedent 
for any other property, Councillor Chambers said that it was probably fair 
to say that it could have been reference to “The Firs”, although he could 
not recall the words “The Firs” specifically being used during the 
meeting.  He confirmed that the Parish Council would deal with each 
request as an individual case.  He said that he was aware that someone 
was making notes at the meeting on 13th October 2015. 
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Councillor Fisher 
 
Councillor Fisher confirmed that he was at the meeting on 11th August 
2015.  He said that he had seen a copy of the letter of 11th August 2015 
as it was sent to him by way of email.  Councillor Fisher was clear that 
the content of the letter of 11th August 2015 was, to quote his words “my 
view”.  When asked about the phrase “profit through deception” 
Councillor Fisher said that the phrase may have been used before, he 
did not recall the entire phrase being used, and added that “the 
Harrison’s were”. 
 
I asked Councillor Fisher about his reasons for refusing the request in 
relation to The Firs, he said that the Parish Council as Tenants had the 
right to refuse the request, he said that he had discussed the case with 
other Councillors who had been Councillors prior to him becoming a 
Councillor and that it was clear that the reasons given by Mr and Mrs 
Harrison were not “genuine, truthful reasons”.   
 
I asked Councillor Fisher about the letter of 9th September 2015.  He 
said that he had seen the letter but had had no involvement with its 
preparation, but was of the view that there was nothing in that letter that 
he would disagree with.   
 
I asked Councillor Fisher about the request made by Transcore at the 
meeting on 13th October 2015 and how this differed from the request 
made in relation to The Firs.  He said that he would deal with each 
request as a separate situation.  He couldn’t recall whether The Firs was 
specifically mentioned at that meeting. 
 
Cath Edwards 
 
Cath Edwards told me that she resigned from the Parish Council in 
October 2015.  She said that she was not at the meeting of 11th August 
2015 and that she did not use email to receive her correspondence from 
the Parish Council, that she received all documentation by post.  Cath 
Edwards confirmed that she did not attend the meeting of 13th October 
2015.  She had nothing further to add in relation to this matter. 
 
Councillor Mattinson  
 
Councillor Mattinson confirmed that he was present at the meeting on 
11th August 2015.  He said that he did not see a copy of the letter signed 
by the Chair, but that it was read out in the meeting.  In relation to the 
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letter, Councillor Mattinson said that at the time of the meeting he was in 
agreement with the letter.  He then made reference to a previous 
meeting on 14th July 2015 and section 5(d) of that meeting which read 
“The Clerk reported that she had written to the Solicitors acting for Mr 
and Mrs Harrison to convey the refusal for the Deed of Easement.  A 
letter from City Council confirming their support of that decision had also 
been received”.  Councillor Mattinson told me about a meeting which 
took place on 28th August 2015 where he says it became apparent that 
Mr Marsden (the developer) and Mr Harrison worked together.  He said 
that he did not know why the Solicitors did not identify this issue at the 
time, there was negligence on the part of the Solicitors.  He said that 
City of York Council also objected and when Mr and Mrs Harrison got 
approval for a second access they now had decided that they wanted to 
sell the land.  He referred to it as a “strange series of events”.   
 
I asked about Councillor Mattinson’s reasoning for refusing the request 
for services, he said that the Chairman gave him a history of the 
background to the case, that Mrs Harrison had previously attended a 
meeting and was in tears and that a caravan was mentioned.  He said 
that he understood that someone was in ill health and that the matter 
had a “long history”.   
 
I asked Councillor Mattinson about the correspondence dated 9th and 
10th September 2015 between STPC and Mr and Mrs Harrison.  He said 
that the email looked in his view to have been put together by a solicitor 
due to its legal wording.  He said that it was “inappropriate” and 
“unprofessional”.  In relation to STPC’s letter of 9th September 2015, he 
said it looked to him like they had acted in good faith but couldn’t recall 
seeing the letter or any input or involvement in it. 
 
With regards the meeting on 13th October 2015, Councillor Mattinson 
said that he recalled a discussion about the Transcore request, he said 
that the Firs was not discussed at the meeting.  He could not say if Mrs 
Harrison’s notes were accurate or not.  I asked him about the note which 
Mrs Harrison had made with regards to “Matteson wasn’t on agenda – 
not familiar – would like to see a drawing of it”.  He said that he was not 
familiar with the site, there was no drawing, he said that he had not 
looked at the area discussed and still does not know what it is or 
involves. 
 
When I concluded the interview, I asked Councillor Mattinson if he had 
anything he wanted to add, he said that the owners and the employer 
got so far, either they did not have solicitors, or their solicitors did not 
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bring things to their attention.  In his view, the Parish Council had acted 
responsibly in all issues. 
 
Councillor Plant 
 
Within their complaint, Mr and Mrs Harrison state that Councillor Plant 
failed to declare an interest, namely that he is a neighbour of theirs and 
also that he was a signatory to the lease which includes the land which 
was the subject of the request for the deed of easement.   
 
Councillor Plant told me that he had been a Parish Councillor for 26 
years and had no interest in what his neighbours did.  He accepted that 
he had failed to declare an interest at the meeting on 11th August 2015, 
he said that it was the first time he had failed to declare an interest when 
he felt he should have at a meeting.  I asked him about the decision 
relating to The Firs, he said that it was a unanimous decision, therefore, 
his vote would have made no difference to the decision.  He confirmed 
that he had voted at the meeting, but he was clear that he recalled that it 
was a unanimous decision.  Councillor Plant said that he accepted his 
error, but said that it was a “technical error”.  
 
I asked Councillor Plant about the letter of 9th September 2015.  He said 
that he had not seen it and wouldn’t expect to have, as there is a 
Chairman and a paid Clerk, as a member he said he did not expect to be 
involved in the drafting of a letter, the purpose of the letter had been 
accepted by the Parish Council. 
 
Councillor Plant confirmed that he attended the meeting on 13th October 
2015.  He said that he declared an interest at this meeting because he 
lives on the same Lane, he again said that on 11th August 2015 he had 
made an error.  He said that he had never been involved in any changes 
to the houses in Lord Moors Lane for 20 years as he had never wanted 
to upset his neighbours.  He said that he didn’t know his neighbours and 
did not want to get involved in legal processes.  I asked Councillor Plant 
about the hand written notes of Mrs Harrison from the meeting on 13th 
October.  He said that the notes where reference is made to him saying 
“go ahead” were “not true”.   
 
Councillor Smith 
 
Councillor Smith couldn’t recall the 11th August 2015 meeting in 
particular, she said that she had only started in the May so things were 
“new to me”.  She said it was a “learning curve for me”.  She confirmed 
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that the letter which was approved at that meeting was read out at the 
meeting.  In relation to the wording of the letter, Councillor Smith said as 
far as she knew the wording had come up at the meeting, but she 
couldn’t remember who suggested the specific words.  She said that 
everyone agreed with it.  I asked Councillor Smith about her reasons to 
refuse the request for services made at that meeting, she said that she 
had been on the Parish Council 6 years ago, she knew some of the 
background, she said she was surprised that the matter was still being 
discussed.   
 
In relation to the letter of 9th September 2015, Councillor Smith said that 
she had not seen the letter of 9th September 2015, nor could she recall 
any input or involvement in it.   
 
Councillor Smith confirmed that she was present at the meeting on 13th 
October 2015.  I asked her about Mrs Harrison’s notes.  She recalled the 
discussions regarding Mr Bolton’s pathway, she confirmed that she has 
said that she was happy to approve this, she said that he brought a 
laptop along to show the improvements made to the drive.  She said that 
in relation to Seven Oaks, she did not say “no dyke”.  I asked Councillor 
Smith if the words “The Firs” were used at all during that meeting.  She 
said she couldn’t recall. 
 
Councillor Hill 
 
Councillor Hill informed me at the outset of the interview that he was 
going to record the interview on his mobile phone.  I said I did not object 
to this.  I took him through the documents and he raised the fact that the 
copy of the documents he had received did not have a 2nd page in 
relation to the minutes of the meeting of 11th August 2015.  I showed him 
the document in full and allowed him the time to read through it. 
 
I asked him about the meeting on 11th August 2015 and the letter of the 
same date, he said he couldn’t recall seeing the letter which was 
approved for signature by the Chairman.  He said that if his memory 
serves him correct it was a long dispute, he couldn’t remember a lot 
about the meeting.  I asked if he knew who drafted the letter.  He said he 
was not sure, Sue Nunn or Keith Marquis and that it could have been a 
joint thing.  He explained that words were banded about and put into a 
letter. 
 
I asked Councillor Hill about his reasons to refuse the request.  He said 
that he was aware that it was the 2nd or 3rd meeting about the matter, he 
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had a brief discussion with Councillors about The Firs, he obtained a 
quick history about what had happened and was aware it had been 
going on since 2011.   
 
I asked Councillor Hill whether he was involved or had any input into the 
letter of 9th September 2015.  He confirmed he did not recall any 
involvement.   
 
Councillor Hill confirmed that he was present at the meeting on 13th 
October 2015.  I asked him about how the decisions made in that 
meeting differed from The Firs decision.  He said that Sevenoaks was a 
bad corner and he was concerned about road safety.  He said that they 
had been “straight up” about it, but The Firs had not been.  He said that 
the requests were totally different.  I asked about what Councillor Hill 
thought was meant about viewing each request as a separate item and 
not setting a precedent for any other property.  He said it meant to 
assess each case as it comes in and being upfront with the Parish 
Council.  He said that The Firs wasn’t upfront.   
 
I showed Councillor Hill Mrs Harrison’s notes.  I asked him if he had any 
comments to make about them.  He said that she was putting her own 
slant on things, he said he didn’t feel it was a good way of putting a 
complaint in.  I asked if The Firs, so far as he could recall, was 
specifically mentioned at the meeting, he said he thought between two 
Councillors, but not in public. 
 
I asked Councillor Hill if he had anything further he wanted to say.  He 
said that it was a long standing dispute and it was the 2nd or 3rd meeting.  
He said that he would like closure on the matter, he felt that it was 
clutching at straws on behalf of the Harrisons.  He said that the letter 
was correct and had his “full backing”. 
 
Councillor Ogilvy 
 
Councillor Ogilvy confirmed that he was present at the meeting on 11th 
August 2015.  He said he could recall the comment “profit through 
deception” being said and thought it wasn’t right.  Councillor Ogilvy 
wouldn’t name the Councillor he claimed said the comment, but said that 
he saw that Councillor Marquis had a word with that Councillor after the 
meeting.  I asked whether Councillor Ogilvy had seen the letter of 11th 
August 2015.  He said that he had not seen the letter, although he later 
said that the letter could have been put on the screen as there is a 
facility during these meetings to do this.  He said he was half asleep, as 
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he had been at work.  I asked Councillor Ogilvy about the views within 
the letter of 11th August 2015 being those of the entire Parish Council.  
He said that they were not the views of the full Parish Council.  He said 
that he could remember the comment being made and someone saying 
don’t get into trouble it is The Firs.   
 
I asked Councillor Ogilvy about his reasoning for refusing the request, 
he said there was a history of the situation which he knew about.   
 
I asked about the letter of 9th September 2015, Councillor Ogilvy said 
that he could have seen the letter had it been on a screen, he didn’t 
really seem to be able to recall it with certainty. 
 
Councillor Ogilvy said that he was at the meeting on 13th October 2015.  
He said that he judges every case individually.  He had no comments to 
make regarding Mrs Harrison’s notes and did not recall whether the 
words “The Firs” were used at all during that meeting. 
 
Councillor Chapman 
 
Councillor Chapman confirmed that he was not at the meeting on 11th 
August 2015.  He said that he may have seen the letter of 11th August 
2015, but was not 100% sure of this.  Councillor Chapman said that the 
phrase “profit through deception” had been a recent statement of 
someone from a meeting.   
 
With regards the letter of 9th September 2015, Councillor Chapman said 
he had no input or comments were made in relation to this letter.   
 
Councillor Chapman said that he did not attend the meeting on 13th 
October 2015.  He had no input into any of the decisions made at the 
meeting.  I mentioned Mrs Harrison’s notes and Councillor Chapman 
said that it was not Yorkshire Water but Morrisons workmen whom he 
had seen.  He said that the men were not aggressive at all.  He said that 
they were sitting in the van sorting things out so the comment with 
regards aggression was not a true account as to his encounter with 
them. 
 
Councillor Harvey-Walker 
 
Councillor Harvey-Walker told me that he had been away in Europe for 
July and August so had not attended the 11th August 2015 meeting.  He 
was not involved in any way in the 11th August 2015 letter due to him 
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being out of the country.  He couldn’t recall the 9th September 2015 
correspondence. 
 
He confirmed that he was at the meeting on 13th October 2015.  
Councillor Harvey-Walker vaguely remembered the discussions, but 
couldn’t remember what exactly was said at the meeting, he also 
couldn’t recall seeing Mrs Harrison’s notes before.  He did say that The 
Firs was not specifically mentioned at the meeting. 
 
Councillor Baxter 
 
Councillor Baxter confirmed he was at the meeting on 11th August 2015.  
He said that letters are put onto a screen and then the Parish 
Councillors can look at the letters and make comments on them.  He 
said that the comment “profit through deception” originated from the 
letter of 11th August.  I asked Councillor Baxter about his reasons for 
refusing the request.  He said that he had been on the Parish Council a 
long time and knew that the land was common land.   
 
I asked Councillor Baxter about the letter of 9th September 2015.  He 
said that he usually gets all copies of letters.  He said he was not 
involved in any input or recalled any involvement in the letter of 9th 
September 2015. 
 
Councillor Baxter confirmed that he was present at the meeting on 13th 
October 2015, he did not know what was meant by setting a precedent 
for any other property and he said that he did remember during that 
meeting using the words “The Firs”.   
 
I asked Councillor Baxter about Mrs Harrison’s notes, in particular the 
comments she has noted that were made by him.  He admitted saying 
“should have been sorted out before – no different to other case – if we 
give permission for one – rod for back – could be expensive” and “not 
sticking up for man – rod for own back”.  He said that in his view if 
Sevenoaks had been allowed it would be “double standards”.  He said 
that he was not sticking up for Mr Harrison, and alleged that a man he 
believed to be Mr Harrison had verbally abused him in the street 
previously.   
 
Finding and conclusion 
 
As previously stated, I am not concerned with investigating the allegation 
of failure to implement the complaints procedure or the code of practice 

Page 65



Annex 4 

that is not within the remit of my role in this investigation, I am concerned 
with allegations of breaches of the Code of Conduct only. 
 
Letter of 11th August 2015 – “Profit through Deception” 
 
The letter of 11th August 2015 was distributed to the Parish Council as a 
draft decision letter prior to the meeting which took place on 11th August 
2015.  However, the final decision as to whether the letter was to go out 
and its final version was decided at the monthly meeting on 11th August 
2015.  It is clear that Councillors Chambers, Chapman, Flannery and 
Edwards were not in attendance at this meeting, therefore, I find no 
breach of the Code of Conduct in regard this letter against them.  In 
addition, Councillor Harvey –Walker also was not present, although his 
apologies were not recorded.  I find also in respect of him that there was 
no breach of the Code of Conduct in respect of this letter. 
 
The minutes of the monthly meeting state that the Parish Council “voted 
unanimously” to refuse the request.  The letter, containing the words 
“profit through deception” was then approved by those in attendance at 
the monthly meeting and signed by the Chairman.  It appears during the 
course of my investigation that there is a belief amongst the Parish 
Council that Mr and Mrs Harrison intended at the time the Deed of Grant 
was granted to then sell the land for development purposes, however, I 
have found no evidence of this.   
 
I find that a reasonable person would find such a comment disrespectful.  
I also find that without any evidence of deception on the part of Mr and 
Mrs Harrison, that this comment could and has improperly conferred a 
disadvantage to them.  In relation to this strand of the complaint, I find 
that Councillors Marquis, Plant, Baxter, Hill, Fisher, Mattinson, Ogilvy 
and Smith are all in breach of the Code of Conduct. 
 
Failing to declare an interest at the meeting on 11th August 2015 
Mr and Mrs Harrison have raised within their complaint that Councillor 
Plant is one of the Parish Councillors who signed the Lease on 4 
January 1996.  Councillor Plant’s failure to declare that he was a 
signatory to the Lease does not, in my view, amount to a personal 
interest which would require declaration.  I am required to look at 
whether a personal interest had to be declared under any circumstances 
at that meeting and note that Councillor Plant accepted that he had 
failed to declare an interest at the meeting on 11th August 2015.  He said 
that he had no interest in his neighbours but felt that he did not want to 
be involved in changes to houses on the street where he lives.  He said 
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that he did not know Mr and Mrs Harrison, therefore, it cannot be said 
that they fall within the definition of “friend, relative or close associate”.  
However, this could be a decision which might reasonably be regarded 
as affecting Councillor Plant’s well-being, which would give rise to a 
declaration of a personal interest.  A decision such as granting access 
for services on a development on land on the street where Councillor 
Plant lives could, in my view, affect Councillor Plant’s well-being and as 
such I find that Councillor Plant’s failure to declare an interest is a 
breach of the Code of Conduct.  Councillor Plant did vote on the request 
concerning The Firs, his view was that as the vote was unanimous, 
whether he had voted or not, it would not have affected the decision. 
 
Bias and no lawful reason to refuse request 
 
As part of this investigation, I have considered minutes of various STPC 
meetings.  As part of this strand of Mr and Mrs Harrison’s complaint, the 
request made by Transcore in relation to Sevenoaks (which was 
considered on 13th October 2015) has been given as an example of bias 
and to demonstrate that there is no lawful reason to refuse the request 
made for The Firs.  I cannot change the decision made in relation to the 
request made relating to The Firs, nor any other similar request, 
including Sevenoaks.  The minutes of the meeting on 13th October 2015 
indicate that the Sevenoaks request was “agreed in principle subject to 
the provision of a detailed plan”.  The minutes go on to say “the parish 
council viewed each request as a separate item and this would in no 
way set a precedent for any other property”. 
 
Since this meeting, City of York Council, as landowners, have 
considered the Sevenoaks request and have informed Transcore that 
the services at Sevenoaks must be relocated and the land reinstated.  
The minutes of STPC’s Planning Committee Meeting on 23rd February 
2016 confirm this.  Despite the subsequent decision of City of York 
Council, which effectively renders Sevenoaks in the same position as 
The Firs, I have to consider whether Councillors acted improperly when 
The Firs request for services was considered.  It could be said that 
Transcore were in a more difficult position in relation to their request, 
they had already installed the services without approval, whereas it 
could be said that Mr and Mrs Harrison had worked with STPC and 
sought approval before any works started.  Despite this, it appears that 
STPC were willing to approve the request made by Transcore, despite 
rejecting Mr and Mrs Harrison’s request.  Councillor Baxter expressed 
his concerns to me during our interview as to this decision and 
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confirmed some of the notes made by Mrs Harrison which she took at 
the meeting on 13th October 2015. 
 
Regardless of the position of City of York Council which has changed 
the decision made in respect of Sevenoaks, it does appear to me that 
The Firs was rejected because of a belief, even though I have found no 
evidence to support this belief, that there was some sort of deception 
taking place.  
 
 I have also looked to the minutes of the monthly meeting which took 
place on 9th June 2015 which deals with Mr and Mrs Harrison’s request 
for services across the leased land, the reason within the minutes given 
by STPC to refuse this request was “the original Deed of Grant was 
given for a specific purpose”.  In my view, I cannot see the relevance in 
considering this request of the purpose of the Deed of Grant, this 
request which was made in June 2015 was a new request for services to 
be brought across the land.  The minutes of this meeting, as with the 
meeting the following month state that this was a unanimous decision.  I 
have also considered the further request for services over the leased 
land relating to The Firs was again made the following month by 
solicitors acting for the developer.  Again, the minutes state that STPC 
unanimously rejected the request.  
 
 I find that these decisions and the reasons for making the decision has 
led to a disadvantage being conferred upon Mr and Mrs Harrison, which 
has been to their disadvantage.  As I have previously stated, I can find 
no evidence to support the belief of STPC of an intention on the part of 
Mr and Mrs Harrison to “profit through deception”.  I also find that the 
decisions made were not made in the spirit of some of the principles 
which form the basis for the Code of Conduct, namely in relation to 
selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability and openness.  On that 
basis I find that those Councillors involved in the decisions made on 9th 
June 2015 and 11th August 2015 are in breach of the Code of Conduct in 
respect of this strand of Mr and Mrs Harrison’s complaint.  Councillors 
Marquis, Plant, Chapman, Chambers, Harvey-Walker, Baxter, Ogilvy, 
Smith, Flannery and former Councillor Edwards in respect of the 
decision made on 9th June 2015 and Councillors Marquis, Plant, Baxter, 
Hill, Fisher, Mattinson, Ogilvy and Smith in respect of the decision made 
on 11th August 2015. 
 
Maladministration, prejudice and bias of Councillor Marquis, in particular 
in relation to the letter of 9th September 2015 
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The letter of 9th September 2015 appears to have been sent after a 
“closed meeting” regarding The Firs which took place after the monthly 
meeting on 8th September 2015.  Mr and Mrs Harrison make reference 
to Councillor Marquis’ maladministration, prejudice and bias within this 
letter, although I was told during my interviews that those Councillors at 
the closed meeting approved the letter which was sent out, Councillor 
Marquis merely signed it in his capacity of Chair of the meeting, 
therefore, I have to consider all of those Councillors present at the 
closed meeting when considering whether a breach of the Code of 
Conduct has occurred.   
 
This strand of Mr and Mrs Harrison’s complaint centres around the 
wording of the letter.  I have read the letter and what I do note is that 
STPC appear to be referring to matters which are not of relevance to the 
recent request, such as matters in 2011 and also the death of Mrs 
Harrison’s father.  I would also suggest that perhaps in future letters of 
this kind, STPC should refer the member of the public to the Code of 
Practice or Complaints Procedure as good practice, but these 2 factors 
alone do not amount to, in my view, a breach of the Code of Conduct.  
What I have considered however, is the penultimate paragraph of the 
letter which reads “The Parish Council, with the support of the City of 
York Council are not prepared to permit any Deed of Easement to allow 
you to profit from the erection of a new property, accessed in this way.  
The Parish Council feel that you misled them in order to achieve your 
wish to profit from providing a building plot made accessible by the 
second structure.”  I find that this paragraph of the letter does not accord 
with the principles of the Code of Conduct in respect of objectivity, 
openness or honesty.  I also find that such a comment could be deemed 
disrespectful to a reasonable person and also improperly confers a 
disadvantage upon Mr and Mrs Harrison.  On that basis, I find that those 
who attended this meeting, and approved this letter, namely Councillors 
Marquis, Plant, Baxter, Hill, Fisher, Chambers, Chapman, Mattinson, 
Ogilvy and Flannery in breach of the Code of Conduct in respect of this 
strand of Mr and Mrs Harrison’s complaint. 
 
Rachel McKevitt 
8th June 2016 
 
Annexes 
Annex A – Complaint made by Mr and Mrs Harrison (pages 21 to 41) 
Annex B – STPC Code of Conduct for Councillors – Adopted 12th June 
2012, updated 9th July 2015 (pages 43 to 50) 

Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank



Annex 5 

City of York Council Standards 
Committee 

 
Pre Hearing checklist 

 

Complainant  

Subject Member Councillor 

Investigating Officer  

 

Do you intend to attend the proposed hearing to give evidence or 
make representations  
 

Yes 
 

Do you wish to be represented at the hearing by a solicitor, 
barrister or another person.1 
 

No 
 

If so by who? 
 

Name of representative and capacity in which they act: e.g. solicitor, 
friend, fellow Councillor 
 
 
 

Do you wish the whole or any part of the hearing to be in private? 
 

No 
 

If yes please explain why2 

 
 
 
 

                                                           
1
 Although there has to be a degree of formality to the proceedings of the committee it will be unusual for 

subject members to be represented. The procedure is not adversarial. The Committee will act in an 
inquisitorial manner to ensure that the circumstances of the case are fully understood. 
2
 The Standards Committee’s general position is that hearings should be held in public and that documents 

should be publicly available in advance of the meeting. However, there may be circumstances in which fairness 
to individuals dictates and the provisions of schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 allow, 
information to be considered in private. The Council’s proper officer will determine whether papers should be 
publicly available and the Hearing Sub Committee will determine whether the meeting or nay part of it should 
be in private.   
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Do you wish any part of the Investigating Officer’s report or other 
relevant documents to be withheld from the public? 

No 
 

If yes please explain why3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Do you disagree with any of the facts found by the investigating 
officer as set out in his her report? 

No 

If yes please set out briefly the facts that you dispute and your view 
as to the true factual position 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                           
3
 The Standards Committee’s general position is that hearings should be held in public and that documents 

should be publicly available in advance of the meeting. However, there may be circumstances in which fairness 
to individuals dictates and the provisions of schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 allow, 
information to be considered in private. The Council’s proper officer will determine whether papers should be 
publicly available and the Hearing Sub Committee will determine whether the meeting or any part of it should 
be in private.   
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Do you believe that witnesses should be called to the Hearing 

Yes 
 

If yes please identify the witnesses who you wish to be called and 
briefly identify the issues that they will be able to give evidence 
about4 

Councillors Marquis, Plant, Flannery, Chapman, Chambers, Harvey-
Walker, Baxter, Hill, Fisher, Mattinson, Ogilvy and Smith as well as 
former Councillor Edwards who have in Rachel McKevitt’s judgment 
been found in breach of the STPC Code of Conduct in respect of all of 
the specific issues set out in Rachel’s report.  
 
The degree of ‘corporate amnesia’ on crucial issues such as the use of 
the words ‘profit by deception’ in a letter from the Chairman of STPC, 
Councillor Marquis, to Hague and Dixon Solicitors which we believe 
defamed us, and has not resulted in an apology from STPC needs 
further enquiry on oath. Our recollection of events could not be clearer 
and nor could the crippling consequences of STPC’s use of defamatory 
words and their decision making generally: not only have we lost the 
sale of our building plot, the letter containing defamatory remarks was 
sent to solicitors for Graham’s employer, we have had to apply for fresh 
planning permission for an eco-property and incur significant attendant 
expense including survey reports into ground source heat and borehole 
water etc. The stress has been overwhelming at times. STPC need to 
realise that their decision making has real consequences for real people 
and Rachel’s evidence confirms our view that there is a degree of 
incompetence that should be held to account. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                           
4
 The Monitoring Officer and Chair will consider whether any witnesses you name are likely to be able to give 

evidence which will be of value to the Hearing Panel. If they are then those witnesses will be invited to attend. 
The Panel cannot compel the attendance of any witness. 
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Annex 6 

 

City of York Council Standards 
Committee 

 
Pre Hearing checklist  

 

Complainant Mr & Mrs Harrison 

Subject Member Councillor 

Investigating Officer Rachel McKevitt 

 

Do you intend to attend the proposed hearing to give evidence or 
make representations  
 

Yes 
 

Do you wish to be represented at the hearing by a solicitor, 
barrister or another person.1 
 

Yes 
 

If so by who? 
Mrs Susan Nunn 

Name of representative and capacity in which they act: e.g. solicitor, 
friend, fellow Councillor 
 
Parish Clerk Mrs Susan Nunn 
 

Do you wish the whole or any part of the hearing to be in private? 
 

Yes 
 

If yes please explain why2 

As the complainants have indicated that they intend to progress this 
issue through the courts it is believed that comments made in open 
proceedings could be misconstrued and used as evidence against both 
the Parish Council and City of York Council. 

                                                           
1
 Although there has to be a degree of formality to the proceedings of the committee it will be unusual for 

subject members to be represented. The procedure is not adversarial. The Committee will act in an 
inquisitorial manner to ensure that the circumstances of the case are fully understood. 
2
 The Standards Committee’s general position is that hearings should be held in public and that documents 

should be publicly available in advance of the meeting. However, there may be circumstances in which fairness 
to individuals dictates and the provisions of schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 allow, 
information to be considered in private. The Council’s proper officer will determine whether papers should be 
publicly available and the Hearing Sub Committee will determine whether the meeting or nay part of it should 
be in private.   
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Do you wish any part of the Investigating Officer’s report or other 
relevant documents to be withheld from the public? 

Yes 
 

If yes please explain why3 

 
As the complainants have indicated that they intend to progress this 
issue through the courts it is believed that comments made in open 
proceedings could be misconstrued and used as evidence against both 
the Parish Council and City of York Council. 
 

Do you disagree with any of the facts found by the investigating 
officer as set out in his her report? 

Yes 

If yes please set out briefly the facts that you dispute and your view 
as to the true factual position 

The report by the Investigating Officer appears to be biased towards 
information provided by the complainants and takes little account of the 
circumstances of this long running saga which were explained to the 
Investigating Officer. 
 
The process taken by the Investigating Officer did not include 
investigation as to why the actions were taken by the Parish Council 
over the period since unauthorised construction of an access road from 
Lords Moor Lane to The Firs in December 2007. 
 
A time line of events associated with this issue has been kept and 
extracts will be provided to the Monitoring Officer. 
 
 
Parish Councillor A. K. Marquis (Chairman) 

                                                           
3
 The Standards Committee’s general position is that hearings should be held in public and that documents 

should be publicly available in advance of the meeting. However, there may be circumstances in which fairness 
to individuals dictates and the provisions of schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 allow, 
information to be considered in private. The Council’s proper officer will determine whether papers should be 
publicly available and the Hearing Sub Committee will determine whether the meeting or any part of it should 
be in private.   
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Do you believe that witnesses should be called to the Hearing 

Yes 
 

If yes please identify the witnesses who you wish to be called and 
briefly identify the issues that they will be able to give evidence 
about4 

 
Mr K D Marsden 
 
 
 

                                                           
4
 The Monitoring Officer and Chair will consider whether any witnesses you name are likely to be able to give 

evidence which will be of value to the Hearing Panel. If they are then those witnesses will be invited to attend. 
The Panel cannot compel the attendance of any witness. 
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Annex 7a 

City of York Council Standards Commit-
tee 

 

Pre Hearing checklist 

 

Complainant Mr and Mrs Harrison 

Subject Member Councillor 

Investigating Officer R McEvitt 

 

Do you intend to attend the proposed hearing to give evidence or 
make representations  

Yes 

Do you wish to be represented at the hearing by a solicitor, barris-
ter or another person. 

Yes 

If so by who? 

Name of representative and capacity in which they act: e.g. solicitor, 
friend, fellow Councillor 
Mrs S Nunn, Clerk to Strensall with Towthorpe Parish Council 

Do you wish the whole or any part of the hearing to be in private? 

Yes 

If yes please explain why 
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As the complainants have indicated that they intend to progress this 
issue through the courts it is believed that comments made in open 
proceedings could be misconstrued and used as evidence against both 
the Parish Council and City of York Council. 
 
 
 

Do you wish any part of the Investigating Officer’s report or other 
relevant documents to be withheld from the public? 

No 

If yes please explain why 

 
 
 
 
 

Do you disagree with any of the facts found by the investigating of-
ficer as set out in his her report? 

Yes 

If yes please set out briefly the facts that you dispute and your view 
as to the true factual position 
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1. Page 5. Third Paragraph. Missing Facts. The report states that the Harrison’s involve-
ment with STPC started in 2007. The first piece of documentary evidence provided by the 
complainants is from 2011. There is no attempt in the report to enquire as to what hap-
pened in the intervening four years, or any evidence that the Investigating Officer sought 
out what STPC might have been doing during that period or to see whether there was 
any correspondence during that period between STPC and the complainants.  

2. Page 13. First Paragraph. The report states “It appears during the course of my investiga-
tion that there is a belief amongst the Parish Council that Mr and Mrs Harrison intended 
at the time the Deed of Grant was granted to then sell the land for development purpos-
es, however, I have found no evidence of this. “ The Investigating Officer did not ask for 
any evidence.  The allegation of no evidence is then repeated in the second paragraph.  

3. Page 14  First Paragraph.  The report states “ it appears that STPC were willing to ap-
prove the request made by Transcore, despite rejecting Mr and Mrs Harrison’s request.” 
This is not true. STPC were not willing to approve the use of their leased land for utilities, 
which is the root of the complaint. Subsequent actions and a wealth of documentary evi-
dence prove this.  

4. Page 14. Second Paragraph. The Report states “Regardless of the position of City of 
York Council which has changed the decision made in respect of Sevenoaks, it does ap-
pear to me that The Firs was rejected because of a belief, even though I have found no 
evidence to support this belief, that there was some sort of deception taking place. Firstly, 
the position of STPC has not changed over Sevenoaks and secondly, STPC has taken a 
consistent line with all cases of alleged trespass over its leased land. There is a wealth of 
documentation to support this.  

5. Page 14. Third Paragraph.  The report states: I have also looked to the minutes of the 
monthly meeting which took place on 9th June 2015 which deals with Mr and Mrs Harri-
son’s request for services across the leased land, the reason within the minutes given by 
STPC to refuse this request was “the original Deed of Grant was given for a specific pur-
pose”.  In my view, I cannot see the relevance in considering this request of the purpose 
of the Deed of Grant, this request which was made in June 2015 was a new request for 
services to be brought across the land. The statement in the minutes concerning the pur-
pose for the original Deed of Grant is true and therefore any change would confer legiti-
macy on a situation which had been disputed by SPTC and over which hung the threat 
from the Harrison’s of legal action. None of these facts are mentioned in the Report.  

6. Page 14. Fourth Paragraph. The Report finds a breach of the STPC Code of Conduct in 
respect of selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability and openness. Had the deci-
sion of SPTC at that meeting been to grant the request, exactly the same criticism could 
be levelled, particularly in terms of objectivity, accountability and integrity.  By granting 
the request SPTC could be seen to have been capitulating to the threat of legal action 
and of being subjective in its approach to alleged acts of trespass on its leased land, the 
latter position being fully supported by City of York Council. 

7. Page 15. Second Paragraph. The Report discusses a letter from STPC to the Harrison’s 
in September 2015 and states:  “ What I have considered however, is the penultimate pa-
ragraph of the letter which reads:  “The Parish Council, with the support of the City of 
York Council are not prepared to permit any Deed of Easement to allow you to profit from 
the erection of a new property, accessed in this way.  The Parish Council feel that you 
misled them in order to achieve your wish to profit from providing a building plot made 
accessible by the second structure.” I find that this paragraph of the letter does not ac-
cord with the principles of the Code of Conduct in respect of objectivity, openness or ho-
nesty.” The fact disputed here is that it is impossible to see how the Investigating Officer 
can second guess the views of the Parish Council at the time when the letter was written 
and there are no facts given to support her assertion. It may make uncomfortable reading 
for the recipients, but that does not make it  anything less than objective, open and above 
all, honest. 

8. A Lack of Facts. The report by the Investigating Officer concentrates almost entirely on 
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the information provided by the complainants and contains hardly any factual detail about 
the history or the origins of the circumstances of this issue.  The report does not include 
any investigation into the factual circumstances that led to the actions taken by STPC 
subsequent to the unauthorised construction of an access road from Lords Moor Lane to 
The Firs in December 2007. 

 

 
 
Parish Councillor CR Chambers  
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Do you believe that witnesses should be called to the Hearing 

Yes/No 

If yes please identify the witnesses who you wish to be called and 
briefly identify the issues that they will be able to give evidence 
about 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Councillor Chris Chambers 
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From: Ralph Plant       Sent: 26 July 2016  
 
Dear Mr Docherty, 
  
I am the Councillor Plant included in the above complaint as a member 
of Strensall with Towthorpe Parish Council. 
I am also the same Councillor Plant singled out for personal complaint.  
You have seen the jointly agreed statement from our Chairman, 
Councillor Keith Marquis, in reply to the complaint. As I have been 
singled out, I believe that there are three points that I must add: 
  
      a. I gave my defence to Rachel McKevitt, in which  I accepted some 
guilt for the meeting on  
          11th August 2015 but pointed out that, as I had not said a single 
word at the meeting, I had not  
          added to the Council’s corporate blame.   
      b. I re-iterate that is not true that I said the words attributed to me by 
Mrs Harrison on 13th October  
          where I had declared an interest. 
      c. Mention is made of a Lease I signed, 20 years ago, in 1996. That 
fact is irrelevant to this complaint.  
          At that time there  was no dispute with anyone about any aspect 
of the lease. Problems only occurred  
          with the Deed of Grant in August 2013. I had nothing to do with 
this. 
  
I would like an acknowledgement of this please.    
  
Yours Faithfully, 
  
Ralph Plant 
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From: Ralph Plant  

Sent: 23 September 2016 16:21 
To: Carr, Jayne 

Subject: Re: Hearings Sub-Committee Meeting 

 
Dear Jayne, 

  

First I present my apologies because I cannot be at the meeting on 11th October. 

  

I am 87 years old and am a  registered disabled individual.  

Another factor is that on 6th October I have also have a 2 hour medical examination 

at York Hospital which could lead to surgery or/and hospitalisation. My reason for 

absence is therefore a medical essential. 

  

However my answer to the charge which is the subject of your email is being answered  

on behalf of all of we Councillors by Councillors Marquis and Chambers. either or both 

will be at your meeting. 

  

The specific and personal charge levelled at me, because I failed to declare an interest 

at the meeting on 11th August 2015 has been answered by me on three occasions:    

  a. In the Minutes of the meeting of councillors dated 9th February 2016. 
  b. In my statement to Rachel McKevitt on 8th June at Strensall Village Hall. 
  c. In the email, copy attached. 
I have never had acknowledgements of these three assertions but have nothing to add. 
I would like them noted on the 11th October meeting. 
  
Yours Sincerely 
Ralph Plant 
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From: Tony Fisher      Sent 21/07/2016 
 
Dear Mr Docherty, 
 
Having read Ms KcKevett's report, which I consider to be one of the 
most prejudiced and utterly inaccurate documents I have ever read, I 
have decided that I will no longer participate in this farce. I disagree with 
some of the statements she makes (especially concerning the Parish 
Council's attitude to the services at Sevenoaks, where she has 
completely misunderstood the stance of the Parish Council), every 
conclusion she makes and have absolutely no wish to waste my time on 
debating a matter of opinion. 
 
I am absolutely satisfied that all my comments were honest and based 
on clear evidence. I do not intend to submit any documents or attend the 
hearing. I also absolutely will not comply with any sanctions imposed on 
me and certainly will not apologise in any way. The Localism Act 2011 
lays out the sanctions available and none of them worry me in the 
slightest. 
 
Please tell the Standards Committee to do whatever they wish. I have 
better things to spend my time on, like serving the residents of Strensall. 
 
Yours 
 
Cllr Tony Fisher 
Strensall PC 
 
From: Tony Fisher        
         Sent 22/7/2016 
Dear Mr Docherty, 
 
Further to my e-mail of yesterday, I wish to add further points. 
 
My e-mail should not under any circumstances be interpreted an an 
admission of guilt on my behalf, not should it be imferred that I believe 
that other members of Strensall with Towthorpe Parish Council have 
contravened the code of conduct in any way. 
 
Furthermore, my personal vote in favour of the refusal by the Parish 
Council for the deed of grant for services to cross the new access was 
not influenced by my firm belief that Mr and Mrs Harrison's request for a 
second access was always intended to facilitate their unstated aim of 
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building a second dwelling. Their suggestion that it was to facilitate the 
manoeuvring of a motor home is absurd in my opinion. I voted this way 
because the Parish Council has taken a firm and consistent position of 
opposing any new crossing of the leased land for any purpose. Minute 
5d of the PC meeting of July 14th confirms that City of York Council itself 
wrote a letter supporting the PC's decision. At Sevenoaks, the offer was 
made to BUY some of the land and we left this to City of York Council as 
owners to decide. When this offer was declined, The PC enforced the 
removal of the installed services. 
 
I would also point out that Ms McKevitt's report makes no mention of the 
meeting the PC had with Mr Marsden (the potential developer and Mr 
Harrison's employer) at which he stated that he felt that he had been 
deceived by the Harrisons. To omit this is tantamount to incompetence 
on Ms McKevitt's behalf as I made her aware of it in my interview with 
her, a point she conveniently omits to mention. 
 
I would also point out that we are in this position due to the 
incompetence of City of York Council, who granted the new access at 
The Firs without consulting Strensall with Towthorpe Parish Council as 
lessees of the land. As the new access had already been constructed, 
the then members of the Parish Council felt unable to demand its 
removal, preferring to condition its use. Had the PC been consulted 
before construction, I believe that it would have been strongly opposed. 
 
The complainants can solve any problem they have by taking the 
services for the new property over their original access. I do not believe 
that any decision by the PC confers any disadvantage on them 
whatsoever. 
 
As far as I am concerned this matter is now closed. Please do not send 
any further correspondence to me over it. 
 
Yours 
 
Cllr Tony Fisher 
Strensall PC 
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From: Lawrence Mattinson     Sent: 24/7/2016 

 

Mr Docherty, 
 
Further to the e-mail and associated attachments that you sent to 
Strensall with Towthopre Parish Council in relation to the above 
mentioned complaint, I would comment to you as follows. 
 
 As a relatively new member of STPC I have found all of the Councillors 
to be responsible mature adults who act as 'Reasonable Persons' at 
every meeting that I have attended. All decisions are made without bias 
or favour and with the best interests of the the residents they represent 
at the forefront. 
 
I am very disappointed that CYC are pursuing this issue further, based 
upon a very biased report that favours 2 individuals who have a 
significant interest in an outcome in their favour, versus 13 individuals 
who represent the community and have nothing to gain by reaching what 
I believe to be a reasonable decision that any responsible person would 
have reached given the circumstances surrounding this case. 
 
In my experience of 40 years investigating serious and fatal incidents 
and auditing world wide businesses, the essence of a professional report 
should be to capture all of the facts from all parties concerned and 
present them in a factual and unbiased chronological order, without 
forming a personal opinion as Ms McKevitt has done.  Such a report as 
she has prepared, immediately apportions blame upon potentially 
innocent parties, without giving adequate opportunity to those reading 
the report to form their own opinion.  If the chronology had been 
recorded accurately then I am sure that you would not be wasting public 
money by pursing this issue further. 
 
As for myself, I will not be attending any further meetings or hearings on 
this issue with CYC. If however CYC as the owners of the land in 
question wish to overrule STPC and give easement rights to the 
Harrison's (in contradiction to your earlier views), then so be it.  However 
such a decision would have serious implications for the workings of the 
PC. 
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If you do have public funds to waste on this case then could I suggest 
you channel these into improving road safety in Strensall which CYC 
have so far failed miserably to act upon.    
 
Regards 
 
Cllr Lawrence Mattinson 
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